FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 5/23/2019 3:35 PM

97236-2

Court of Appeal Cause No. 77526-0-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Erik J. Murphy, Respondent

v.

KEVIN HENDRICKSON, Petitioner

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joseph Militello 1600 NE 47th St. #17 Seattle, WA 98105 (607)229-8723 militelloj2002@yahoo.com

WSBA#45681

A. Identity of Petitioner		
Kevin Hendrickson asks this court to accept review of the Court of		

Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition.

B. Court of Appeals Decision

Petitioner Hendrickson seeks review of the Court of Appeals'
March 25, 2019 decision affirming the Snohomish Superior Court's grant
of summary judgment in favor of the plaintiff, Erik J. Murphy, quieting
title to an easement on plaintiff's property that had been held by
Hendrickson by court action judicially extinguishing the easement.

Petitioner Hendrickson seeks particular review of the Appeals

Court's reliance on case law it construed to grant Washington courts broad

power to extinguish property rights acquired for consideration by express

grant that they deem no longer provide owners beneficial use.

Also, Petitioner Hendrickson seeks review of the Appeals Court's failure to adhere to established Washington appellate court published case law precedents circumscribing the circumstances under which the owner of a burdened estate can modify an existing easement without notice to or acquiescence of the easement holder.

Hendrickson's Motion for Reconsideration was denied by a majority of the Division One Court of Appeals panel on April 22, 2019.

A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at page A-1. A copy of the order denying petitioner's motion for reconsideration is in the Appendix at page A-2.

C. Issues Presented for Review

Did the Court of Appeals err in ratifying Plaintiff Murphy's modification of an easement on its property without notice to the easement holder, in abrogation of the requirements itemized in *Hanna v. Marritan*, 373 P.3d. 300, 193 Wn.App. 596, 606-07 (2016) and the notice requirement articulated by the court in *Coast Storage*, 55 Wn.2d. 848, 854, 351 P.2d.520 (1960),?

Did the Court of Appeals err in construing *Coast Storage* to grant Washington courts broad new powers to take away from owners vested private property rights they acquired for consideration by express grant?

Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the Superior Court's grant of summary judgment to the plaintiff, based on a flawed construction and application of the law?

D. Statement of the Case

Petitioner, Mr. Hendrickson, acquired for consideration in 1993 a plot of land. That property's 1993 statutory warranty deed granted to Mr. Hendrickson an "ingress, egress and utilities" easement as described in the "Town of Woodway Short Plat." The Priscilla Collins Short Plat,

established in 1978 comprising the four relevant lots, describes the easement as "serving Lots 1, 2, 3 and 4." Lot 4 is the Hendrickson Property, still currently owned by Appellant. Mr. Hendrickson, as a result of this purchase of Lot 4, is the holder of an appurtenant easement serving Lot 4 and burdening adjacent lots.

The plaintiff in the court below sought to extinguish by court ruling a recorded, expressly granted appurtenant easement owned since 1993 by Mr. Hendrickson. The Snohomish County Superior Court granted the plaintiff's request for judicial extinguishment of the easement on summary judgment and denied reconsideration. (CP 44-47). The Washington Court of Appeals Division One affirmed the summary judgment ruling in March 2019 and denied reconsideration in April 2019.

E. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

Washington Rule of Appellate Procedure 13.4(b) states that a petition for review may be accepted by the Supreme Court if one or more of the following conditions are met:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The conditions for granting review stated under RAP 13.4 (b)(1), RAP 13.4 (b)(2), RAP 13.4 (b) (3), and RAP 13.4 (b)(4) are all clearly met in the present petition from Division One of the Washington Court of Appeals.

In Case Storage, the Washington Supreme Court held, "the consent of all interested parties is prerequisite to the relocation of an easement." (at 854) Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals affirmed the Superior Court's grant of summary judgment despite the clear contradiction between the plaintiff's conduct and this Supreme Court holding. The plaintiff modified or relocated Mr. Hendrickson's easement without his consent merely by filing in the county recorder's office without notice to the easement holder a boundary change altering the location of the easement's terminus and affecting its use. Therefore, the condition for granting review under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) has been satisfied.

The Appeals Court decision extinguishing Petitioner's easement conflicts with the express holding in the 2016 publishing appellate court opinion, *Hanna v. Marritan*, which limits such extinguishments to certain specified circumstances, none of which were met in the present case:

Easements are only extinguishable in specific situations, such as when the easement holder releases it in an instrument that complies with the statute of frauds, the owner of the servient estate uses the easement adversely, the easement is abandoned, or the dominant and servient estates merge.

Therefore, the RAP 13.4 (b)(2) condition for review has been met.

Article I, Section 16 of the Washington State Constitution places clear limitations on government takings of private property, expressly stating that a right-of-way may not be appropriated without compensation except for municipal use, an exception irrelevant to the present case:

No private property shall be taken or damaged for public or private use without just compensation having been first made, or paid into court for the owner, and no right-of-way shall be appropriated to the use of any corporation other than municipal until full compensation therefor be first made in money, or ascertained and paid into court for the owner, irrespective of any benefit from any improvement proposed by such corporation,...

The Washington Supreme Court stated unequivocally in

Manufactured Housing Communities of Washington v. State, 13 P.3d 183,

142 Wn.2d 347, 362 (2000):

The eminent domain provision of the Washington State Constitution provides a complete restriction against taking private property for private use: "Private property shall not be taken for private use..." Const. art. I, § 16 (amend.9).

The Court of Appeals in the present case divested Petitioner of a right-of-way, not for public or municipal use, but for the benefit of the private owners of the neighboring burden estates, without providing full, or even any, compensation, so the prerequisite for review under RAP 13.4 (b) (3) has been satisfied.

The United States Constitution, following a foundational principle of property rights central to the aspirations of the Founding Fathers, has restricted conditions under which the government can take private property. The Fifth Amendment "takings clause" limits the scope of the government's exercise of eminent domain powers to circumstances in which property is taken for public use and in which just compensation for the property taken is provided: "nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation." The United States Supreme Court has repeatedly stated "one person's property may not be taken for the benefit of another private person without justifying public purpose, even though compensation be paid." Thompson v. Consolidated Gas Utils. Corp., 300 U.S. 55, 80, 57 S.Ct. 364, 376, 81 L.Ed. 510 (1937); Cincinnati v. Vester, 281 U.S. 439, 447, 50 S.Ct. 360, 362, 74 L.Ed. 950 (1930); Madisonville Traction Co. v. St. Bernard Mining Co., 196 U.S. 239, 251-52, 25 S.Ct. 251, 255-56, 49 L.Ed. 462 (1905); Fallbrook Irrigation Dist. v. Bradley, 164 U.S. 112, 159, 17 S.Ct. 56, 63, 41 L.Ed. 369 (1896).

The United States Supreme Court has long construed the Fourteenth Amendment as requiring the same public use and just compensation requirements for any takings of private property by each state government. See, e.g., *Chicago B. & Q. R.R. v. City of Chicago*, 166 U.S. 226, 233, 236–37 (1897); *Sweet v. Rechel*, 159 U.S. 380, 398 (1895).

The United States Supreme Court has long held that property interests such as easements are expressly included among those falling under the provisions of the Eminent Domain clauses of the Constitution. See, *United States v. Welch*, 217 U.S. 333 (1910).

The Court of Appeals' broad construction of dictum that "[a]n easement is a use interest, and to exist as an appurtenance to land, must serve some beneficial use" in a 1960 Washington Supreme Court case, Coast Storage at 853, in its opinion published in the case on April 25, 2019, if left standing, would have the effect of greatly expanding state government power to take away private property rights obtained for consideration, eliminating the public use and just compensation requirements. The Appeals Court construed this dictum as a binding holding empowering Washington courts to extinguish easements whenever it concludes that they serve no beneficial use. Such a holding, which has since been published and thus serves as binding Washington law, contradicts not only the restrictions on takings of private property rights for the private use of another property owner articulated in the Washington case law cited, supra, but it also contradicts well-established principles of both the state and federal constitution. The prerequisite for review under RAP 13.4 (b) (3) based on significant constitutional questions has been met.

The requirement for review under RAP 13.4 (b)(4) has also been satisfied since there is a significant public interest both to property owners and to the real estate industry. If the owner of a burdened property can with impunity unilaterally modify a neighbor's appurtenant easement acquired for consideration by express grant, without providing notice to the owner of the dominant estate or negotiating the modification for new consideration, merely by surreptitiously filing a modification in the county recorder's office, then owners of servient estates in Washington, in response to the April 25 Division One published opinion will run to county recorders offices throughout the state to do so, unburdening their property to acquire unclouded title to their estates in order to enhance the resale value of their property.

Holders of easements and other non-possessory interests in neighboring estates will potentially lose their property rights without any notice, and when they eventually become aware of the modification, will run to the court with quiet-title actions, attempting to reclaim their lost property rights, flooding Washington courts with litigation. Alternatively, the owners of burdened estates will flood the courts with litigation, hoping, as happened in the present case, that the courts will rule that the newly secretly modified easement or property right no longer serves any

beneficial use to the holder and can be judicially extinguished, even on summary judgment.

Such a scenario will create great instability in the real estate industry. When a realtor sells a property to a buyer, promising as part of the property sold certain vested appurtenant property rights, such as a right of way or other easement on neighboring estates, the buyer relies on that property right in assessing the value of the home and in negotiating the purchase price. If such appurtenant rights, acquired for added consideration by the buyer, cannot be relied on, but are instead subject to unpredictable modifications without notice and judicial extinguishment without compensation based on a subjective evaluation by the court that they no longer provide beneficial use to the holder, buyers will be wary to pay for such benefits and may even refrain from purchasing the property for fear that a right of way or other expected benefit might be stripped away.

Realtors may also find themselves subject to litigation for breach of contract for assuring buyers of a vested property interest that, according to the express grant, the acquired right exists in perpetuity and runs with the land with regard to both dominant and servient estates, regardless of changes in ownership of either property. While such purchasers are on at least constructive notice that there are a few limited and legally long-

established and well-defined conditions that might result in extinguishment of an easement (such as adverse possession), the Division One holding on April 25 greatly destabilizes the process of acquiring real property by creating a highly fluid approach to the extinguishment of an easement. While easements by prescription and hardship easements are judicial creations acquired for no consideration and may by judicially extinguished when the conditions for their judicial creation no longer exist, an easement by express grant is a private contract, and especially if acquired for consideration, is a vested private property right to be terminated only according to the express terms in the conveyance instrument. Alternatively, it may be extinguished if one of the four conditions itemized in Hanna v. Marritan has been met, but these are based on long-known common-law principles: written release by the holder of the right, adverse possession, abandonment, or merger of the dominant and servient estates. None of these conditions were cited by the Superior Court in in summary judgment extinguishing Hendrickson's easement, nor by the Court of Appeals. Instead, the Court of Appeals relied on a highly questionable broad construction of dictum in a 1960 case clearly distinguishable in its underlying material fact pattern from the present case to create a new condition for judicial extinguishment of a vested property right. Beyond the instability created by adding a new

court power to take private property, the subjective determination by the court that a property right no longer serves any beneficial use to the holder of that right creates further instability and uncertainty that destabilizes the real estate industry during the time of an overheated housing market and booming new construction.

F. Conclusion

If the Supreme Court of the State of Washington grants review of the Court of Appeals decision, it should reassert the clear limitation of conditions under which an appurtenant property right acquired for consideration by express grant can be judicially or otherwise extinguished to those four situations itemized in *Hanna v. Marritan*, namely, abandonment, adverse possession, merger of estates, or express agreement by the interested parties. The holdings by the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals in this case should thus be reversed with regard to their apparent ratification of the Plaintiff's modification of Mr. Hendrickson's easement across his estate simply by recording the modification in the County Recorders' Office without providing any notice to the holder nor negotiatting for new consideration to support any modification of Petitioner's vested right as expressly granted in perpetuity. This reversal would quiet title in favor of Petitioner, Mr. Hendrickson.

Petitioner also requests that the Supreme Court construe much more narrowly the statement in *Coast Storage* regarding courts' power to extinguish private property rights based on their perceived failure to continue to provide the holder of those rights beneficial use. In its original context, that statement referred only to a merger of the dominant and servient estates, a condition long known to terminate an easement. In such contexts, there is by definition no longer any beneficial use because the common owner of both estates no longer needs a special right of way across what is now his or her own property. This Court should not construe *Coast Storage* as greatly expanding judicial takings powers nor as adding a novel condition for extinguishment of an easement. The 1960 dictum was merely a recognition of the long-existing rule that merger of dominant and servient estates terminates an easement as a matter of law.

Petitioner Hendrickson thus respectfully requests that this Court remand the case for reconsideration based on a much narrower construction than the Appeals Court's broad application of its newly expanded judicial takings power assumed under its idiosyncratic understanding of Coast Storage.

At minimum, this Court should limit its application of the *Coast*Storage provision for judicial extinguishment of an easement based on its failure to provide further beneficial use to its holder to only such cases

where lack of beneficial use is as self-evident as it was in *Coast Storage*, where the merger of estates made the easement useless as a matter of law. In the present case, there was no such merger of estates, so any failure of the easement to continue provide beneficial use based on the secret modification by the owner of the burdened estate should not have been determined on summary judgment as a matter of law.

CR 56 allows for summary judgement where no dispute as to the material facts exist and the moving party is entitled to judgement as a matter of law. CR 56, *Elcon Const., Inc. v. Eastern Washington University,* 174 Wn.2d 157,165, 273 P.3d 965 (2012). Having determined that the "beneficial use" standard empowered the court to extinguish an easement, even if that newly claimed court power is legally sound and constitutionally valid, the disputed factual question of whether Mr.

Hendrickson received beneficial use from the easement should have been properly adjudicated and summary judgment precluded. This Court, even if it were to embrace the Appeals Court's conclusion that Washington courts are now free to extinguish property rights that appear no longer to provide beneficial use to their owners, should remand the case for determination of beneficial use as a question in the instant case for the finder of fact at the trial court level.

May 21, 2019