FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/21/2019 2:00 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97236-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ERIK J. MURPHY,

Respondent

v.

KEVIN B. HENDRICKSON and JANE DOE HENDRICKSON, et ux., et al.,

Appellant

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Per E. Oscarsson, WSBA #14485 Beresford Booth PLLC 145 Third Avenue S., Suite 200 Edmonds, Washington 98020-3593 (425) 776-4100 <u>pero@beresfordlaw.com</u> Attorneys for Respondent

I. INTRODUCTION

Respondent, Erik J. Murphy ("Murphy"), requests that the Court deny the Petition for Review filed by Petitioner, Kevin B. Hendrickson ("Hendrickson") on the grounds that none of the considerations governing acceptance of review set forth in RAP 13.4(b) apply in this case and the Petition for Review is based, in part, on a misstatement of the record.

II. ARGUMENT

A. None of the considerations governing acceptance of review set forth in RAP 13.4(b) apply in this case.

RAP 13.1(a) provides that the only method of seeking review by

this Court of a decision of the Court of Appeals is discretionary review.

RAP 13.4(a) provides that the method for seeking discretionary review

by this Court is a petition for review. RAP 13.4(b) provides:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The word "only" is defined as "exclusively" or "solely". <u>Webster's Third New International Dictionary</u> (G. & C. Merriam Co., 1961) at 1577. Consequently, the use of the word "only" in the introductory clause of RAP 13.4(b) indicates that the list that follows is exclusive. The word "or" is defined as, "A disjunctive particle used to express an alternative or to give a choice of one among two or more things." <u>Black's Law Dictionary, Sixth Edition</u> (West Publishing Co., 1990) at 1095. Use of the word "or" after RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (3) indicates that any one (1) of the four (4) considerations set forth in RAP 13.4(b) is sufficient to permit the Court to accept a petition for review. However, in this case, none of the four (4) considerations will permit the Court to accept Hendrickson's Petition for Review.

B. The Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court.

In <u>Coast Storage Co. v. Schwartz</u>, 55 Wn.2d 848, 351 P.2d 520 (1960), a property owner owned several tracts of adjoining real property, only one of which had access to a public street. The property owner sold a portion of two tracts in the interior of his property to a third party, retaining property on the opposite side of the sold tracts from the public street. The property owner reserved an ingress/egress easement over the

sold tracts in order to access the retained property. Subsequently, the property owner sold that retained property to another third party. As a result, the property owner no longer owned any property for which he needed access by way of the reserved easement. The purchaser of the retained property sued to quiet title to the reserved easement. The trial court granted the requested relief and the Court affirmed the trial court on the basis that there was no longer any reason or necessity for the owner of the reserved easement to travel to the property at the opposite end of the reserved easement.

It is clear from the Court's opinion that, at one time, the owner of the reserved easement had a reason to use the reserved easement to travel to the property at the opposite end of the easement; he owned the property. In the instant case, Hendrickson never had a reason or necessity to the use the portion of the easement at issue for ingress or egress because he never owned property at the end of the portion of the easement at issue and could never use the portion of the easement at issue for access to or from a public street.

Throughout the Petition for Review Hendrickson assumes the existence of an appurtenant easement in this case. This assumption is in conflict with <u>Coast Storage</u>, <u>supra</u>, in which the Court said, "An easement is a use interest, and to exist as an appurtenance to land, must serve some

beneficial use." <u>Id</u> at 853. Therefore, the beneficial use must be established before the easement can be an appurtenance to land. Despite numerous opportunities before the trial court and the Court of Appeals to establish his beneficial use of the portion of the easement at issue, Hendrickson failed to establish any beneficial use. As a result, the portion of the easement at issue in this case is not appurtenant to Hendrickson's real property.

The decision of the trial court in this case, and affirmed by the Court of Appeals, is consistent with the Court's decision in <u>Coast</u> <u>Storage, supra</u>. Hendrickson has not cited any other Supreme Court cases with which the Court of Appeals' decision in this case is allegedly in conflict. The consideration set forth in RAP 13.4(b)(1) has not been satisfied and does not provide a basis for acceptance by this Court of Hendrickson's Petition for Review.

C. The Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

The only case cited by Hendrickson in support of his argument that the decision of the Court of Appeals in the instant case is in conflict with a published opinion of the Court of Appeals, <u>Hanna v. Margitan</u>, 193 Wn.App. 596, 373 P.3d 300 (2016), is clearly distinguishable from the instant case. <u>Hanna</u> involved easements that were useable for their intended purpose. In the instant case, the portion of the easement at issue was never useable by Hendrickson for the purpose of ingress to or egress from his property. <u>Hanna</u> did not involve termination of an easement due to the lack of beneficial use to the property allegedly benefited by the easement.

In any event, Hendrickson has failed to provide any legal authority that any Court of Appeals decision would govern this case when the Court of Appeals' decision in this case is consistent with the Court's decision in <u>Coast Storage</u>, which predates the cited Court of Appeals decision by fifty six (56) years. "A decision by [the Washington Supreme Court] is binding on all lower courts in the state. When the Court of Appeals fails to follow directly controlling authority by this court, it errs." <u>1000 Virginia Limited Partnership v. Vertecs Corporation</u>, 158 Wn.2d 566, 578, 143 P.3d 423 (2006). <u>Coast Storage</u> would have bound the Court of Appeals in <u>Hanna</u>. However, the Court of Appeals must not have considered <u>Coast Storage</u> to be applicable to the issues before it because the Court of Appeals' opinion in <u>Hanna</u> does not make any reference to <u>Coast Storage</u>.

The consideration set forth in RAP 13.4(b)(2) has not been satisfied and does not provide a basis for acceptance by this Court of Hendrickson's Petition for Review.

D. This case does not involve a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States.

Hendrickson argues that the Court of Appeals' decision in this case resulted in a governmental taking of private property in violation of the Constitution of the State of Washington and the United States. Hendrickson cites <u>Manufactured Housing Communities of Washington v.</u> <u>State</u>, 142 Wn.2d 347, 13 P.3d 183 (2000), <u>Thompson v. Consolidated</u> <u>Gas Utilities Corporation</u>, 300 U.S. 55, 57 S.Ct. 364, 81 L.Ed. 510 (1937), <u>City of Cincinnati v. Vester</u>, 281 U.S. 439, 50 S.Ct. 360, 74 L.Ed. 950 (1930), <u>Madisonville Traction Co. v. St. Bernard Mining Co.</u>, 196 U.S. 239, 25 S.Ct. 251, 49 L.Ed. 462 (1905), <u>Fallbrook Irrigation District</u> <u>v. Bradley</u>, 164 U.S. 112, 17 S.Ct. 56, 41 L.Ed. 369 (1896), <u>Chicago, B &</u> <u>Q.R. Co. v. City of Chicago</u>, 166 U.S. 226, 17 S.Ct. 581, 41 L.Ed. 979 (1897), <u>Sweet v. Rechel</u>, 159 U.S. 380, 16 S.Ct. 43, 40 L.Ed. 188 (1895), and <u>United States v. Welch</u>, 217 U.S. 333, 30 S.Ct. 527, 54 L.Ed. 787 (1910), in support of his argument.

<u>Madisonville Traction Co.</u>, <u>supra</u>, involved condemnation of real property by a railroad company pursuant to a state statute relating to condemnation of lands, although the issue before the U.S. Supreme Court was the ability to remove the state court action to a federal court. Each of the other cases cited by Hendrickson involve alleged takings by a city

government, state legislature, state regulatory agency, or the federal government by legislation, regulatory action, or condemnation. None of the cases cited by Hendrickson in support of his argument involve a court, at the trial court level or the appellate court level, rendering a decision in a quiet title dispute between private individuals and that decision being the equivalent of a governmental taking of property. The instant case involves only a quiet title dispute between private individuals.

The consideration set forth in RAP 13.4(b)(3) has not been satisfied and does not provide a basis for acceptance by this Court of Hendrickson's Petition for Review.

E. This case does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Hendrickson's entire argument that the consideration for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) has been satisfied is based on a misstatement of the record in this case. Hendrickson's first issue presented for review is premised on the same misstatement of the record. As a result, Hendrickson's first issue presented for review does not require any decision by this Court.

Hendrickson argues that Murphy modified the applicable easement on his property without notice and suggests that this was done

"surreptitiously" by filing a modification in the county recorder's office. This is a blatant misstatement of the record that was before the trial court as well as the Court of Appeals and contradicts the opinion of the Court of Appeals. Hendrickson argues a parade of horribles that will result from this alleged action by Murphy.

The record before the trial court and the Court of Appeals clearly reflected that Dennis Delahunt, Trustee of The Robert M. Ryan Living Trust, was the plaintiff in the quiet title action before the trial court that was commenced in 2017. The trust owned the property affected by the portion of the easement at issue in this case. Delahunt was the plaintiff through the trial court's decisions granting summary judgment in his favor and denying Hendrickson's motion for reconsideration. When Hendrickson appealed to the Court of Appeals, Delahunt was the respondent until after the briefing schedule before the Court of Appeals had been completed. After the briefing schedule was completed in 2018, the trust sold the subject property to Murphy and he was substituted for Delahunt as the respondent before the Court of Appeals pursuant to a motion for substitution granted by the Court of Appeals.

The record before the trial court and the Court of Appeals clearly reflected that a boundary line adjustment affecting the relationship between the end of the easement at issue in this case and the west

boundary of what is now Murphy's property was completed in 1994, some twenty-four (24) years before Murphy acquired the property. The same document in the record reflecting the year in which the boundary line adjustment occurred also reflects that the boundary line adjustment was approved by the City of Woodway Planning Commission after a public hearing and that the parties to the boundary line adjustment were not Murphy, Delahunt, or The Robert M. Ryan Living Trust. Contrary to the implication of Hendrickson's Petition for Review, there was no surreptitious filing of a modification of an easement in the county recorder's office. Consequently, Hendrickson's speculation about the parade of horribles that will ensue is misplaced, should not be considered by the Court and does not support acceptance of the Petition for Review by this Court.

The consideration set forth in RAP 13.4(b)(4) has not been satisfied and does not provide a basis for acceptance by this Court of the Petition for Review.

III. CONCLUSION

Hendrickson has failed to satisfy any of the considerations set forth in RAP 13.4(b) governing acceptance of a petition for review. Since the four considerations set forth in RAP 13.4(b) are the only bases on which the Court may accept a Petition for Review, and since none of

the four (4) considerations applies in this case, the Court should reject Hendrickson's Petition for Review.